## SHEFFIELD CITY COUNCIL

## **Housing Policy Committee**

# Meeting held 15 September 2022

**PRESENT:** Councillors Douglas Johnson (Chair), Penny Baker (Deputy Chair),

Fran Belbin, Denise Fox, Maleiki Haybe, Sophie Thornton, Mike Chaplin

(Substitute Member) and Alan Woodcock (Substitute Member)

#### 1. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE

1.1 Apologies were received from Councillors Paul Wood, Ben Curran and Sue Auckland.

## 2. EXCLUSION OF PRESS AND PUBLIC

2.1 **RESOLVED**: That the public and press be excluded from the meeting before discussion takes place on agenda item 14 'HRA Pressures and Savings' (item 13 of the minutes) and item 15 'General Fund Pressures and Savings' (item 14 of the minutes) on the grounds that, if the public and press were present during the transaction of such business, there would be a disclosure to them of exempt information as described in paragraphs 3 and 5 of Schedule 12A to the Local Government Act 1972, as amended.

# 3. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST

3.1 There were no formal declarations of interest made at the meeting.

## 4. MINUTES OF PREVIOUS MEETING

4.1 The minutes of the meeting of the Committee held on 9<sup>th</sup> June 2022 were approved as a correct record.

## 4.1.1 Matters Arising

Councillor Fran Belbin noted that her attendance was recorded at the previous meeting as being 'present' but apologies were sent.

4.1.2 Cllr Denise Fox enquired about responses to Emily Proctor and Geoff Cox.

## 5. PUBLIC QUESTIONS AND PETITIONS

- 5.1 Mark Southall attended the Committee and brought the following petition which was answered by the Chair:
- 5.1.1 I am writing this letter on behalf of myself and the other residents in the block of flats. We are unhappy about the flat of 21A Creswick Way, S62 TP, being used as a halfway property when all of us were sent letters asking is anyone had any objections against the property being built. We did not object or have any issues with this, but we were not informed that it would become a halfway house. All of

us have agreed that if this was the case then we would have objected and expressed concerns. Surrounding neighbours and I have signed a petition for the property in question to become a permanent residential property.

#### **Answer**

The tenants moved out back to Brightmore Drive (temporary accommodation block) on Friday following further ASB incidents. The property on Creswick Way is now vacant. This property will be returned back to the area for general needs letting based on the local concerns and the petition.

- Jenny Carpenter attended the Committee and asked the following question which the Chair answered:
- 5.2.1 Private rented accommodation has some of the poorest energy efficiency performance standards and consequently the highest energy bills. Liverpool City Council has addressed this head on by using a selective licensing designation which requires landlords to comply with minimum energy standards. When will Sheffield follow suit and do something similar?

#### <u>Answer</u>

In term of selective licensing, it is on our workplan for discussion at a future meeting. I am advised that it is not technically correct that Liverpool is enforcing this type of energy through the selective licensing scheme. There are two pieces of different legislation and each one is enforced through its own route. They have done something interesting there and I am sure this will be considered.

The selective licensing is something that applies to private landlords in an area or across the whole city. The minimum energy efficiency standards is a separate piece of legislation and enforcement tool which can be applied and the advice is that we do not proactively carry that out within the private sector at present. This is because we do not have the resources to do that proactive work and it is something that is needed. We have been working with DLUHC on new legislation to push for the increase in the minimum standard to EPC level C and there are also some exemptions for landlords which we have and will continue to press the government to act on.

#### 6. WORK PROGRAMME

- The Principal Democratic Services Officer presented the Work Programme and informed Committee that although it contained suggestions for what it may contain, it was up to the Committee to decide. The Committee were asked to agree the set of recommendations in the report and give consideration to any necessary additions and amendments. Referrals in section 2.0 of the report were also pointed out.
- 6.1.1 The Chair referred to the items in section 2.0 of the Work Programme and the proposed actions taken. It was agreed by the Committee that the proposed action for Issue 3 would be for Officers to progress in the right way.
- 6.1.2 Members raised questions and responses were given around the Gleadless

Valley Delivery Plan, Master Plan, Consultation on the Delivery Plan, delivery team and local briefings. It was also clarified that in order to add to the agenda that informal briefings can be requested and that pre-agenda meetings are utilised.

## 6.2 **RESOLVED UNANIMOUSLY**:

- 1. That the Committee's work programme, as set out in Appendix 1 be agreed, including any additions and amendments identified in Part 1;
- 2. That consideration be given to the further additions or adjustments to the work programme presented at Part 2 of Appendix 1; and
- 3. That Members give consideration to any further issues to be explored by officers for inclusion in Part 2 of Appendix 1 of the next work programme report, for potential addition to the work programme.

#### 7. COMMUNITY HEATING PRICING REVIEW

7.1 The Service Manager introduced the report which proposed a price increase in October 2022 for Community heating charges; to mitigate the risk that the significant energy price changes over the last 6 months has now put on the Community Heating Account.

The current energy crisis puts Sheffield City Council and many other authorities in a very challenging position, the point at which we forecast costs for this year was at a point at which the true cost of gas was still largely unknown. Forecasts ranged daily with a lack of any certainty at a fixed point. A price increase was recommended to full cabinet based on the information at the time which was an assumed increase of 37%. The actual increase is now 107%. Charges are still fluctuating as the crisis is ongoing and further increase will be needed next year.

If charges to customers are not increased, the current forecast estimates that there will be a short fall of more than £1 million, by the end of the current financial year in the community heating account, which would need to be supported by the HRA or General Fund, until it could be recovered.

# 7.2 **RESOLVED:** That Housing Policy Committee:-

1. Approve that the standing rate change remains fixed at £4.90 per week for the duration of the financial year and the kWh charge is increased from 5.69p per kWh to 12p per kWh from October 2022.

## 7.3 **Reasons for Decision**

7.3.1 It is widely documented that the energy price cap will be increased again in October, whilst community heating does not fall under the price cap at this time, it is a clear point for all other customers that at this stage they can expect to see prices increase. Consumption is also at the lowest in the summer months and changing prices now will not have as much impact. The recommendation to increase the prices is required to relieve the pressure on the Housing Revenue Account and to ensure that tenants on community heating are not subsidised for

the increase in energy costs that all other tenants are experiencing and that support is out in place to work with any tenant facing hardship to ensure any available help available is identified.

# 7.4 Alternatives Considered and Rejected

7.4.1 Consideration was given to either not increasing the prices, or only increasing them a smaller amount now to minimise impact on tenants who have community heating. This was rejected as this would in effect mean we are subsidising community heating tenants over all other tenants. There is also the risk that prices will continue to rise and that a smaller increase now would just mean needing an even larger increase later.

(NOTE: The result of the vote on the resolution was FOR - 1 Member; AGAINST - 0 Members; ABSTENTIONS - 7 Members.)

#### 8. HOUSING PERFORMANCE REPORT

8.1 The Director of Housing Services presented the report which provided the Committee with an overview of housing performance for a range of services within the remit of the Committee. The report covered the period for quarter 1 (April – June) of 2022/2023. The first part of the report provided an analysis of the performance, setting this within both the national and local context in which services are delivered. More detailed appendices were included with data showing comparative data form other landlords and regulatory performance. The report allowed the Committee to understand and comment on the performance delivery of housing services to both tenants and citizens.

# 8.2 **RESOLVED UNANIMOUSLY:** That Housing Policy Committee:-

- 1. Notes the Performance Report update provided for guarter 1 of 2022/2023.
- 2. Highlights any issues of concern.

## 8.3 Reasons for Decision

- 8.3.1 The Housing Policy Committee has delegated authority to monitor the performance of Housing services to ensure that:-
  - 1. The service is delivering for tenants, and that tenant satisfaction in closely monitored.
  - 2. Limited resources are maximised due to budgetary pressures.
  - 3. The Council is delivering on corporate priorities.
  - 4. Performance information is shared with external organisations such as the Regulator of Social Housing and the Housing Ombudsman for scrutiny as, well as with tenants and, the Council's Housing and Neighbourhood Service Tenancy Scrutiny meetings.

# 8.4 Alternatives Considered and Rejected

8.4.1 The Housing Policy Committee has delegated responsibility for the regular monitoring of data including performance and financial information, and the performance monitoring of Housing (public sector, private sector, and related functions) services. Therefore, no alternative options to the production of this report have been considered.

#### 9. HOUSING OMBUDSMAN CODE OF PRACTICE

9.1 The Head of Neighbourhood Service presented the report which outlined the Complaint Handling Code that was introduced in July 2020 by the Housing Ombudsman and updated further in April 2022. It set out how the Housing Ombudsman expects social landlords to manage customer complaints, describes best practice and supports landlords in responding to complaints effectively and fairly.

A requirement of the Code is that social landlords assess their complaints handling against the Code annually, using a standard template provided by the Housing Ombudsman. Local Authority landlords must report the outcomes of the assessment to Elected Members and publish the assessment on their website and in their annual report.

An assessment against the code was undertaken in July 2022 and the purpose of the report was to:-

- 1. Inform Housing Policy Committee of the outcomes of the assessment, and of the actions agreed to address non-compliance.
- 2. Seek the Housing Policy Committee's approval to publish the outcomes of the assessment.

## 9.2 **RESOLVED UNANIMOUSLY:** That Housing Policy Committee:-

- 1. That the Housing Committee notes the outcomes of the self-assessment against the Code.
- 2. That the Housing Committee gives their approval for the outcomes of the assessment to be published.

## 9.3 **Reasons for Decision**

Housing Policy Committee is being asked to note the self-assessment and to give its approval for publication of the assessment on the Council website because this will help us achieve transparency and accountability in how we manage with housing-related complaints. It is also a requirement of the Housing Ombudsman for all social landlords that we do so.

## 9.4 Alternatives Considered and Rejected

Self-assessment against the Housing Ombudsman's Code and publication of the outcomes, are a requirement of all social landlords. Therefore, in this respect there

were no other alternatives considered.

#### 10. REVENUE MONITORING REPORT

- 10.1 The Director of Finance and Commercial Services presented the report which brought the Committee up to date with the Council's financial position as at Month 4 2022/23.
- 10.2 **RESOLVED UNANIMOUSLY:** That Housing Policy Committee:-
  - 1. Note the Council's challenging financial position as at the end of July 2022 (month 4).

## 10.3 Reasons for Decision

By the law the Council must set and deliver a balanced budget, which is a financial plan based on sound assumptions which shows how income will equal spend over the short- and medium-term. This can take into account deliverable cost savings and/or local income growth strategies as well as useable reserves.

# 10.4 Alternatives Considered and Rejected

10.4.1 The Council is required to both set a balance budget and to ensure that in-year income and expenditure are balanced. No other alternatives were considered.

## 11. HRA BUSINESS PLAN 23/24

- 11.1 The Director of Housing Services presented the report which provided an update of the key national and local contextual influences on the development of the Housing Revenue Account (HRA) Business Plan 2023/24. It included an explanation of the legal and financial framework governing the creation of the HRA Business Plan along with an assessment of associated risk. It set the scene for a more detailed exploration of the potential options for delivering a balanced HRA Business Plan to be considered by this Committee in November 2022.
- 11.2 **RESOLVED UNANIMOUSLY:** That Housing Policy Committee:-
  - 1. Notes the HRA Business Plan update and wider national and local influences as described in this report.
  - 2. Recommends that a further HRA Business Plan 2023/24 report to be presented at the Housing Policy Committee in November 2022 including recommendations around the rent increases for 2023/24, the HRA budget for 2023/24 and savings proposals for 2023/24.

#### 11.3 Reasons for Decision

- 11.3.1 To optimise the number of good quality affordable council homes in the city;
- 11.3.2 To maximise the financial resources to deliver key service outcomes for tenants and the city in the context of a self-financing funding regime;

- 11.3.3 To ensure that tenants' homes continue to be well maintained and to optimise investment in estates; and
- 11.3.4 To assure the long-term sustainability of council housing in Sheffield.

# 11.4 Alternatives Considered and Rejected

11.4.1 Sheffield City Council has a statutory duty to produce an annual balanced HRA budget, which is evidenced by the business plan update, therefore no alternative option was considered to producing this report.

#### 12. HOUSING GENERAL FUND BUDGET PROPOSALS 23/24

- 12.1 The Director of Housing Services presented the report which provided an update of the budgetary challenges for the Housing General Fund in 2023/24. It set the scene for a more detailed exploration of the potential options for delivering a balanced Housing General Fund to be considered by the Housing Committee in November 2022.
- 12.2 **RESOLVED UNANIMOUSLY:** That Housing Policy Committee:-
  - 1. Notes the Housing General Fund financial pressures 2023/24 detailed within the report.
  - 2. Recommends that a further Housing General Fund 2023/24 report to be presented at the Housing Policy Committee in November 2022 including recommendations on savings proposals for 2023/24.

## 12.3 Reasons for Decision

12.3.1 Members were asked to note the unsustainable financial position highlighted by the medium-term financial analysis presented to Strategy and Resources Committee in July 2022. The report and its recommendations, set out the scale of the challenge ahead, the limited resources available and some of the difficult decisions that will need to be taken.

#### 12.4 Alternatives Considered and Rejected

12.4.1 The Council is required to both set a balance budget and to ensure that in-year income and expenditure are balanced. No other alternatives were considered.

# 13. HRA PRESSURES AND SAVINGS (LINKED TO ITEM 11)

13.1 The Director of Housing Services presented the report which provided an in-depth breakdown of the pressures and mitigation/savings options for the Housing Revenue Account in 2023/24. Members were asked to consider the mitigation options presented in this paper. A delivery plan for achieving a balanced Housing Revenue Account for 2023/24 will then be developed and presented to the next meeting of this Committee in November 2022. Members were asked to note that some of the proposals in the report are sensitive and have not been shared with staff or citizens and are therefore confidential.

## 13.2 **RESOLVED UNANIMOUSLY:** That Housing Policy Committee:-

1. Acknowledges the recommendation approved at the Strategy and

Resources Committee on <u>5 July 2022</u> that "Policy Committees will be asked to develop savings / additional income options that cover their own pressures – in effect cash standstill" and to "require Policy Committees to report at their meetings in September on how they can balance their budgets."

- 2. Notes, as this Committee's initial response to the Strategy and Resources Committee's request, the set of budget proposals set out in the report [and in any appendices].
- 3. Notes that Officers will now work with Members to consult with relevant stakeholders (including with partners, trades unions and in respect of equalities and climate change) on the proposals in this report so as to inform final budget proposals.
- 4. Notes that Officers will work to develop any necessary detailed implementation plans for the proposals in this report so that the proposals, if ultimately approved, can be implemented as planned before or during the 2023/24 financial year.
- 5. Ask to receive a further report in November that will set out the final budget for this Committee following consultation and any adjustments requested by the Strategy and Resources Committee.

## 13.3 Reasons for Decision

Members were asked to note the unsustainable financial position highlighted by the medium-term financial analysis presented to Strategy and Resources Committee in July 2022. The report and its recommendations, set out the scale of the challenge ahead, the limited resources available and some of the difficult decisions that will need to be taken.

## 13.4 Alternatives Considered and Rejected

The Council is required to both set a balanced HRA budget and to ensure that inyear income and expenditure are balanced. No other alternatives were considered.

## 14. GENERAL FUND PRESSURES AND SAVINGS (LINKED TO ITEM 9)

- 14.1 The Director of Housing Services presented the report which provided an in-depth breakdown of the pressures and mitigation/savings options for the Housing General Fund in 2023/24. Members were asked to consider the mitigation options presented in this paper. A delivery plan for achieving a balanced Housing General Fund for 2023/24 will then be developed and presented to the next meeting of this Committee in November 2022. Members were asked to note that some of the proposals in this report are sensitive and have not been shared with staff or citizens and are therefore confidential.
- 14.2 **RESOLVED UNANIMOUSLY:** That Housing Policy Committee:-

- 6. Acknowledges the recommendation approved at the Strategy and Resources Committee on <u>5 July 2022</u> that "Policy Committees will be asked to develop savings / additional income options that cover their own pressures – in effect cash standstill" and to "require Policy Committees to report at their meetings in September on how they can balance their budgets."
- 7. Notes, as this Committee's initial response to the Strategy and Resources Committee's request, the set of budget proposals set out in the report [and in any appendices].
- 8. Notes that Officers will now work with Members to consult with relevant stakeholders (including with partners, trades unions and in respect of equalities and climate change) on the proposals in this report so as to inform final budget proposals.
- 9. Notes that Officers will work to develop any necessary detailed implementation plans for the proposals in this report so that the proposals, if ultimately approved, can be implemented as planned before or during the 2023/24 financial year.
- 10. Ask to receive a further report in November that will set out the final budget for this Committee following consultation and any adjustments requested by the Strategy and Resources Committee

## 14.3 **Reasons for Decision**

Members were asked to note the unsustainable financial position highlighted by the medium-term financial analysis presented to Strategy and Resources Committee in July 2022. The report and its recommendations, set out the scale of the challenge ahead, the limited resources available and some of the difficult decisions that will need to be taken.

## 14.4 Alternatives Considered and Rejected

The Council is required to both set a balanced budget and to ensure that in-year income and expenditure are balanced. No other alternatives were considered.